2010

Patricia Niemela v. Imperial Manufacturing, Inc., an
Alabama corporation, d/b/a Imperial Mailbox
Systems, and John Does I-V : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction to decide this appeal, pursuant to U.C.A. § 78A-4-103(j)(2009), as an appeal from a grant of Summary Judgment by the Third Judicial District Court of Tooele County, State of Utah, entered on July 21, 2010. This appeal was “poured-over” to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. §78A-3-102(4)(2009).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The following issues are raised in this appeal:

1. Whether a manufacturer has a duty to stop selling a defective product that no longer complies with applicable federal regulations?
2. Whether there was evidence that Niemela’s injuries were proximately caused by the mailboxes?
3. Was there a genuine issue of material fact whether the mailbox was defective, or unreasonably dangerous, under U.C.A. §78-15-6(2)(1977), due to the faulty knob design, together with faulty workmanship?

These issues were raised by motion at R. 106, and opposed by Niemela at R. 192. Summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. *Eskelson v. Davis Hospital and Medical Center*, 2010 UT 59, ¶6. The trial court ruling is attached as an addendum.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES

The determinative authorities include:

39 C.F.R. §111 (2001):

Standard 3.4:

... The carrier door must operate freely and solely by pulling outward and downward with a convenient handle or knob. The design of the door, including hinges and handles must provide protection against wind, rain, sleet, or snow. Door latches must hold the door closed but allow easy opening and closing requiring no more than 5 lbs of force.

Standard 3.4.1 Handle/Knob

The handle or knob shall have adequate accessibility to permit quickly grasping and pulling it with one hand (with or without gloves) to open the door. . .

Standard 3.14 Workmanship

The mailbox shall be properly assembled and utilize the best commercial practice workmanship standards in the fabrication of all components and assemblies. All moveable parts shall fit and operate with no unintended catch or binding points. . .

Fed. Reg. Vol. 66, No. 27, Thursday, February 8, 2001.

U.C.A. §78-15-6(2)(1977):

... “unreasonably dangerous” means that the product was dangerous to an extent beyond which would be contemplated by the ordinary and prudent buyer, consumer or user of that product in that community considering the product’s characteristics, propensities, risks, dangers, and uses . . .”.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

This case is a suit for damages for personal injuries, arising out of a defective mailbox design and manufacture by Imperial, of mailboxes in the Overlakes development in Tooele County, Utah.

2. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Niemela sued for personal injuries in Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah. The case was removed to the United States District Court, but then remanded back to Salt Lake County. From there, the trial court granted a motion to change venue to Tooele County. Imperial moved for summary judgment, which was granted, and this appeal followed. The appeal was “poured-over” to

this Court by the Utah Supreme Court.

3. Statement of Relevant Facts on Appeal

The following facts were undisputed before the trial court:

Niemela Was a Letter Carrier at Overlake HOA

Niemela was a USPS letter carrier delivering to the Overlake HOA in Tooele, Utah. (R. 109, Niemela Aff., ¶4). This route consisted of about 600 homes. (R. 140, Niemela Depo., p. 33, l. 6-9). All had identical decorative mailboxes manufactured by Imperial with the same knob design. In fact, homeowners were fined \$300 if they did not use the Imperial mailbox. (R. 114). She began delivering mail in the Overlake HOA in the fall or winter of 2001. (R. 109). Niemela opened and closed nearly 600 Imperial mailboxes every day, five days a week, fifty-two weeks a year for seven years. (R. 140).

The USPS Imposed New Standards on Letterboxes on February 8, 2001

On May 5, 1995, the United States Postal Service approved Imperial's design of the mailboxes at issue and found the design to be in compliance with the requirements of USPS-STD-7, the governing standard. (R. 105, Fact 2). On February 8, 2001, the United States Postal Service revised its 1992 Standards Governing the Design of Curbside Mailboxes. See 66 Fed Reg 9509-02. (Id., Fact 3). "The revision was developed through a consensus process and was approved by a committee of representatives from mailbox manufacturers, mailbox accessory manufacturers, and the Postal Service". (Id., Fact 4). The United States Postal Service required that all approved manufacturers' designs for future mailboxes go through a re-approval process. (Id.).

The 2001 regulations require the mailbox knobs to "have adequate accessibility to permit

quickly grasping and pulling it with one hand . . . to open the door.”39 C.F.R. §111, Standard 3.4.1. Further, the mailbox knobs were required to “allow enough finger clearance and surface area for carriers to grasp.” (Id.). Also, the mailbox knobs were to “operate freely and solely by pulling outward and downward with a convenient handle or knob.” Id., Standard 3.4. They were required to “allow easy opening and closing requiring no more than 5 pounds of force”. Id. Additionally, they had to “fit and operate properly with no unintended catch or binding points.” Id., Standard 3.14. Finally, they were to “utilize the best commercial practice workmanship standards in the fabrication of all components and assemblies.” Id. Pursuant to these standards, Imperial re-designed its mailbox and these changes were approved by the USPS on September 30, 2002. (R. 105, Fact 4).

Overlake HOA Installed 1995 Imperial Letterboxes Sold to it After the 2001 Change in USPS Regulations

The bulk of the Imperial mailboxes, if not every single mailbox, in the Overlake HOA was installed after the February 8, 2001 revisions by the USPS. (R. 109). However, the Overlake HOA mailboxes were all designed pursuant to the 1995 standards, not the 2001 standards. (R. 105). The biggest differences between the 1995 mailboxes and the 2002 mailboxes were 1) the knob depth, which was increased in 2002 from 3/4" to 1 1/2", and 2) the knob size was increased substantially. (R. 10-11).

The Imperial Mailboxes at Overlake HOA Did Not Comply With the 2001 Standards And Were Defective

Niemela averred that the mailbox knobs on the mailboxes in the Overlake HOA did not “have adequate accessibility to permit quickly grasping and pulling it with one hand . . . to open the door.” (R. 109). The 3/4" depth was not adequate “to permit quickly grasping and pulling it with one

hand” without injury. The 1 ½" depth was adequate to prevent hand and arm strain and injury.(Id.). Niemela averred that the mailbox knobs on the mailboxes in the Overlake HOA did not “allow enough finger clearance and surface area for carriers to grasp.” (Id.). The ¾" depth was not adequate “for carriers to grasp” without possible injury. (Id.). Niemela stated that the 1 ½" depth was adequate to prevent hand and arm strain and injury. (Id.). Niemela averred that the mailbox knobs on the mailboxes in the Overlake HOA did not “operate freely and solely by pulling outward and downward with a convenient handle or knob”. (Id.). The mailbox knobs frequently required the use of a screwdriver to open the doors. (Id.). Also, Niemela described how the accumulation of water (turning into ice) in the hinge frequently prevented the doors from operating freely. (R. 108). The mailbox knobs on the mailboxes in the Overlake HOA did not “allow easy opening and closing requiring no more than 5 pounds of force”. (R. 109). The mailboxes frequently required much more than 5 pounds of force. (Id.). Frequently they did not allow “easy opening.” (Id.). Niemela averred that the mailbox knobs on the mailboxes in the Overlake HOA did not “fit and operate properly with no unintended catch or binding points”. (Id.). Instead, they frequently caught and bound, requiring additional strength to open, and sometimes the use of a lever such as a screwdriver. (Id.). Niemela declared that the mailbox knobs on the mailboxes in the Overlake HOA did not “utilize the best commercial practice workmanship standards in the fabrication of all components and assemblies.” (Id.). The hinges, for example, were too light-weight for the cast-metal doors, and progressively became weakened and loose. (Id.). This allowed the doors to misalign and jam, or to become frozen shut during adverse weather. (Id.). Niemela explained that she had episodes of cramping and pain in her right hand from repetitively pulling open the Imperial mailbox doors before December 5,

2005. (Id.). These episodes were transient and did not require medical attention until December 5, 2005. (Id.).

When she spoke to Imperial, they claimed that the USPS regulations for mailboxes changed in April, 2004, to require the 1 ½" depth on mailbox knobs. (Id.). She was told that USPS set this standard for mailboxes. (Id.). When she spoke to Imperial about the problems with the mailbox knob depth, they told her that it would cost consumers about \$5.00 per knob to replace them. (Id.).

Niemela stated that the ¾" knobs are easily replaced by anyone with the 1 ½" knob, by loosening an ordinary machine screw with a standard Phillips head screwdriver. (Id.). She used both the ¾" depth mailbox knobs as well as the 1 ½" depth knobs in her delivery route at Overlake HOA. (Id.). In her experience, the 1 ½" depth knobs caused no difficulty or strain from repetitive opening, while the ¾" depth caused her difficulty and injury to the point that she was ultimately unable to return to my postal delivery service. (Id.).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Niemela clearly described a defective product, both in design and manufacture. The Imperial mailbox had a knob that was too small, too shallow in depth, and insufficient weight. The mailbox was constructed with holes and gaps that allowed rain and snow to bind or freeze the hinge points. Due to the repetitive nature of Niemela's mail route, consisting of over 600 Imperial mailboxes, it was only a matter of time before her hand gave out, which it did. The trial court erred in deciding that Niemela had alleged no duty on Imperial to stop selling these mailboxes, or to warn consumers who had already purchased them. It erred in deciding that there was no evidence of defect in the

mailboxes, by completely disregarding Niemela's testimony. It erred in believing that Niemela's testimony did not rebut the presumption of safety from compliance with federal regulations.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

IMPERIAL HAD A DUTY IN NEGLIGENCE NOT TO SELL DEFECTIVE OR UNREASONABLY DANGEROUS MAILBOXES

Imperial owed Niemela a duty of care in the design and manufacturing of the mailboxes in the Overlake development. *Jacobsen Const. Co., Inc. v. Structo Lite Engineering, Inc.*, 619 P.2d 306 (Utah 1980)(duty of care to supply properly manufactured product). The trial court mis-characterized the issue as a lack of duty to recall or discontinue a non-defective product. Niemela does not disagree with this statement of law from *Slisze v. Stanley-Bostich*, 1999 UT 20, 979 P.2d 317. However, Niemela alleged that the mailbox, even if manufactured prior to 2001, was defective and unreasonably dangerous. For that reason, *Slisze* is inapposite.

The trial court alternatively assumed a duty to Niemela, but asserted that Imperial had no actual or constructive notice of the risk of injury created by the earlier mailbox design, prior to January, 2001. To that assertion, Niemela responds that the rule-making process by the USPS, which culminated in the February, 2001 regulations, necessitates the conclusion that entities that manufacture mailboxes were on notice prior to 2001 that the USPS had a concern about the proper knob size, and depth, and related issues to opening mailboxes. Whether Imperial had actual notice of a prior complaint about the mailboxes (at this point, Imperial has offered no evidence on that), there is a question of constructive or inquiry notice about the reasonableness of the design of its

mailbox. The notice of proposed rulemaking from the USPS was November 1, 2000, which clearly put Imperial on notice by that date that there was a potential problem with the mailbox design.

The trial court further found no evidence of breach of any duty. However, the trial court did not address Niemela's testimony that the mailbox was not properly constructed according to the 1995 design standards. The Utah Supreme Court has recognized that a failure to manufacture a product according to a safe design plan can result in liability. See *Jacobsen Const. Co., Inc.*, supra. Even if Imperial is not negligent in designing a different mailbox prior to 2001, the ones it did manufacture according to that earlier design had manufacturing defects that created an unreasonable risk of injury to Niemela. Niemela testified that the Imperial knob did not "operate freely and solely by pulling outward and downward". Specifically, she testified that the Imperial mailboxes frequently required use of levers, such as a screwdriver, to pry them open. Niemela depo., p. 40, l. 11-25; p. 41, l.1. In fact, the day her hand finally failed, Niemela used a hammer together with a screwdriver to open mailboxes. Id., p. 55, l. 1-6. See also Niemela aff., ¶8. Customers also complained of having to use screwdrivers or other levers to open their mailboxes. Niemela depo., p. 38, l. 17-25; p. 39, l. 1.

Niemela testified that the wind, combined with rain and snow, formed ice which prevented the proper opening and closing of the doors. One specific cause was the holes at the top of the mailbox, where the address attached, without properly sealing or protecting the holes. This allowed rain and snow to run down into the mailbox, freezing into ice at the hinge. See Niemela depo., p. 33, l. 24-25; p. 34, l. 1-25, p. 35, l. 1-24. Also, the point where the door and the mailbox housing fit was not protected from the rain and snow, unlike other simpler and less expensive mailboxes, allowing ice to form there also. See Niemela depo., id., supra.

The trial court suggested that Niemela needed expert testimony to show a breach of duty. However, the numerous problems that Niemela testified to are matters well within the understanding of a jury, without additional expert testimony. Her testimony of the problems with the mailboxes must be accepted at face value in ruling on summary judgment. The trial court did not do that. The trial court did cite *Fox v. Brigham Young Univ., Inc.*, 2007 UT App 406, 176 P.3d 446. However, the *Fox* case involved medical causation issues that were beyond the ken of an average juror. The problems Niemela and other customers experienced with the Imperial mailboxes were understandable to anyone who has used a mailbox, which is, basically, every potential juror.

These numerous problems created an issue of material fact whether Imperial acted negligently in the manufacture of its mailboxes, apart from the design. ¹

POINT TWO

NIEMELA'S TESTIMONY ABOUT THE DEFECTS IN THE IMPERIAL MAILBOX CREATED A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT WHETHER THEY WERE DEFECTIVE

Imperial admits that it must show that it complied with the applicable governmental regulations in 2001 in order to benefit from the common law presumption based upon U.C.A. §78-15-6(2)(1977).² But there is abundant evidence that Imperial's 2001 mailboxes, as installed at the Overlook Point development, did not comply with the applicable governmental standards.

¹The trial court did not discuss any issue of express or implied federal pre-emption.

² Niemela's injury occurred during the "gap", where compliance with federal regulations created a common law presumption of due care, rather than a statutory one. *Egbert v. Nissan Motor Co., Ltd.*, 2010 UT 8, 228 P.3d 737 (Utah 2010).

Applicable Governmental Standard:

This writer has performed a diligent search for applicable governmental standards, and believes that the standard at the time the Overlake HOA was brought into postal service, was found at 39 C.F.R. 111 (February 8, 2001), which is otherwise referred to as USPS-STD-7B. See Addendum B. He believes that this is still the only governing standard. It appears that the mailboxes at the Overlake HOA were installed after that regulation went into effect. Imperial offered no evidence of when the mailboxes were purchased or delivered to the Overlake HOA after the 2001 regulation went into effect. The shorter, shallower 3/4" knob mailboxes used at Overlake HOA were approved under the 1992 regulations. The larger, deeper 1 1/2" knob Imperial mailboxes used later at Overlake HOA were apparently approved under the 2001 regulation, in 2002, well after installation at Overlake.

The 2001 regulation required all existing approved manufacturers to obtain re-approval of their mailbox designs. It appears that Imperial was selling Overlake HOA unapproved mailboxes after the 2001 regulation went into effect, but before it obtained approval in 2002 for its newer designed mailboxes.

Evidence of Violations of 39 C.F.R. 111:

Standard 3.4:

... The carrier door must operate freely and solely by pulling outward and downward with a convenient handle or knob.

As noted above, Niemela averred that the Imperial knob did not "operate freely and solely by pulling outward and downward". Specifically, she testified that the Imperial mailboxes frequently required

use of levers, such as a screwdriver, to pry them open. Niemela depo., p. 40, l. 11-25; p. 41, l.1. In fact, the day her hand finally failed, Niemela used a hammer together with a screwdriver to open mailboxes. Id., p. 55, l. 1-6. See also Niemela aff., ¶8. Customers also complained of having to use screwdrivers or other levers to open their mailboxes. Niemela depo., p. 38, l. 17-25; p. 39, l. 1.

Standard 3.4:

The design of the door, including hinges and handles must provide protection against wind, rain, sleet, or snow . . .

Niemela testified that the wind, combined with rain and snow, formed ice which prevented the proper opening and closing of the doors. One specific cause was the holes at the top of the mailbox, where the address attached, without properly sealing or protecting the holes. This allowed rain and snow to run down into the mailbox, freezing into ice at the hinge. See Niemela depo., p. 33, l. 24-25; p. 34, l. 1-25, p. 35, l. 1-24. Also, the point where the door and the mailbox housing fit was not protected from the rain and snow, unlike other simpler and less expensive mailboxes, allowing ice to form there also. See Niemela depo., id., supra.

Standard 3.4:

Door latches must hold the door closed but allow easy opening and closing requiring no more than 5 lbs of force.

Niemela averred that the door latches did not “allow easy opening and closing” and required much more than “5 lbs of force”. Niemela aff., ¶8-9.

Standard 3.4.1 Handle/Knob

The handle or knob shall have adequate accessibility to permit quickly grasping and

pulling it with one hand (with or without gloves) to open the door.

Niemela averred that the Imperial knobs did not “permit quickly grasping and pulling”. Niemela aff., ¶6-7.

Standard 3.14 Workmanship

The mailbox shall be properly assembled and utilize the best commercial practice workmanship standards in the fabrication of all components and assemblies. All moveable parts shall fit and operate with no unintended catch or binding points.

Niemela’s testimony about the poor workmanship of the mailboxes creates an issue of fact whether Imperial met this standard. The doors did not “fit and operate with no unintended catch or binding points”; Niemela aff., ¶10-11; on the contrary, they were constantly catching and binding, requiring extra pulling force to open them.

POINT THREE

EVEN IF IMPERIAL COMPLIED WITH THE PRE-2001 REGULATION,
THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONCLUDE THAT
THE SMALL KNOB IMPERIAL MAILBOX IS DEFECTIVE

The litany of problems posed by the small knob Imperial mailbox is sufficient to create an issue of fact as to defective design. “Defective” means “dangerous to an extent beyond which would be contemplated by the ordinary and prudent . . . user of that product in that community considering the product’s characteristics, propensities, risks, dangers, and uses . . .”. U.C.A. §78-15-6(2)(1977). Niemela need only persuade a jury, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the small knob Imperial mailbox was defective. *Egbert v. Nissan North America, Inc.*, 167 P.3d 1058, 1062; 2007 UT 64, ¶14-17. The list of problems includes:

- 1) knob diameter too small
- 2) knob depth too shallow
- 3) holes in top of mailbox not sealed to prevent water intrusion and ice buildup at hinge
- 4) exposed joint between door and box allows direct entry of water to form ice

These problems result in a mailbox that is “dangerous to an extent beyond which would be contemplated by the ordinary and prudent . . . user”. This point is highlighted by the stark difference between the Imperial mailbox in question and the Imperial mailbox with the larger, deeper knob. It is also highlighted by the difference between the Imperial mailbox in question and the ordinary aluminum mailboxes. Neither of these other designs created any problem for Niemela in delivery.

CONCLUSION

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