2010

Patricia Niemela v. Imperial Manufacturing, Inc., an Alabama Corporation, d/b/a Imperial Mailbox Systems, and John Does I-V : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Niemela cannot challenge the Trial Court's findings of fact because Niemela has failed to properly marshal the evidence. The Trial Court correctly concluded that Imperial was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because it owed no duty to Niemela in regards to the 1992 Model Mailboxes. Imperial had no duty to refrain from marketing a non-defective product when a revised or safer model was available. Imperial had no duty to inform the consumers of the availability of a revised or safer model. The Trial Court correctly concluded Niemela's negligence claim failed as a matter of law because Niemela did not produce any admissible evidence that her injuries were proximately and actually caused by the mailboxes. The Trial Court was correct in concluding that the 1992 Model Mailboxes were free from defect or defective condition and that Niemela failed to create a genuine issue of material fact to rebut that presumption. The Trial Court was within its broad discretion to reject the February 19, 2010 Affidavit of Niemela as inadmissible evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. NIEMELA HAS FAILED TO PROPERLY MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE AND THEREFORE CANNOT CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL FINDINGS.

The Trial Court's factual findings cannot be challenged because Niemela has failed to properly marshal all the evidence. "In order to challenge a court's factual findings, an appellant must first marshal all the evidence *in support of* the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below." Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 76, 100 P.3d 1177 (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also* Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 24(a)(9). ("A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding."). To fulfill its duty to marshal, Niemela was required to "present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings [it] resists." Chen, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 77, 100 P.3d 1177. Instead of marshaling, Niemela simply reasserts the evidence it presented to the trial court and asks the Appellate court to reconsider *de novo*. Niemela's failure to marshal leaves Imperial and the Appellate court "to bear the expense and time of performing the critical task of marshaling the evidence. This is unfair, inefficient, and unacceptable." United Park City

Mines Co. v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain Fonds, 2006 UT 35, ¶ 26, 140 P.3d 1200.

Accordingly, Niemela cannot challenge the Trial Court's finding of facts because Niemela has failed to properly marshal the evidence.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT IMPERIAL WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW ON NIEMELA'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM BECAUSE IT OWED NO DUTY TO NIEMELA IN REGARDS TO THE NON-DEFECTIVE 1992 MODEL MAILBOXES.

The Trial Court correctly concluded that Imperial owed no duty to Niemela in regards to the 1992 Model Mailboxes and was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Niemela's Negligence claim. The undisputed facts before the Trial Court were that the mailboxes at issue were 1992 Model Mailboxes that had been in place since about 1995. Imperial properly established that the 1992 Model Mailboxes were in conformity with government standards established for that industry which were in existence at the time the plans or designs for the product or the methods and techniques of manufacturing, inspecting and testing the product were adopted. Once Imperial established that fact, it was entitled to a rebuttable presumption that its 1992 Model Mailboxes were free from any defect or defective condition. Niemela was then required to submit sufficient admissible evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact to rebut that presumption.

Waddoups v. Amalgamated Sugar Co., 2002 UT 69, ¶31, 54 P.3d 1054. A

preponderance of the evidence is required to rebut the presumption of non-defectiveness.

See Ebgert v. Nissan N. Am., Inc., 2007 UT 64, ¶14, 157 P.3d 347. Niemela failed to do so. Niemela failed to submit any admissible evidence that the 2001 Standards were in effect when the 1992 Model Mailboxes were manufactured or designed. Niemela failed to show that Imperial had prior knowledge or any knowledge that the manufactured handles/knobs caused injuries or were in any way defective. Niemela failed to provide any expert or other testimony regarding the design of the handles/knobs of the mailboxes at issue. Instead, Niemela submitted an affidavit that contradicted her deposition testimony, contained conclusory opinions and allegations. Niemela claimed in the affidavit that the 1992 Model Mailboxes were defective because they did not comply with the 2001 Standards. As addressed below, those opinions and allegations were rejected by the Court within its broad discretion. Nevertheless, whether or not the 1992 Model Mailbox complied with the 2001 Standards is irrelevant to this matter. The undisputed facts before the Trial Court were that the mailboxes at issue were 1992 Model Mailboxes that were in compliance with the 1992 Standards. Niemela provided no admissible evidence to create a genuine issue of fact to rebut the presumption that the 1992 Model Mailboxes were free from defect or defective condition. Accordingly, the Trial Court correctly concluded that the 1992 Model Mailboxes at issue were free from defect or defective condition.

Once the Trial Court made that determination that the 1992 Model Mailboxes at issue were free from defect or defective condition, the Trial Court then correctly concluded that Imperial had no duty to refrain from marketing a non-defective product when an improved model became available. Niemela is essentially claiming that Imperial was negligent by designing a product in conformity with governmental standards and by not informing consumers about an allegedly safer model when the government changed its design standards. These are the same allegations rejected by the Utah Supreme Court in Slisze v. Stanley-Bostitch, 1999 UT 20, 979 P.2d 317. In Slisze, a construction worker injured while using a pneumatic nailer sued the manufacturer of the nailer under a negligence and breach of implied warranty claim. Slisze claimed that the manufacturer was negligent because they failed to stop marketing their product once an updated design became available. The Court rejected the claim and stated:

It is important to emphasize here that Slisze is essentially asserting that Stanley had a duty to stop marketing a product that is less safe than another, although not defective, or to actively warn and inform consumers that the product is less safe. In weighing the factors set out in *AMS Salt*, we are not persuaded that it is necessary or wise to recognize a duty requiring manufacturers to discontinue manufacturing less safe but non-defective products; there has been no showing that the likelihood of injury would be reduced enough to outweigh the costs and burdens of discontinuation.

Slisze, 1999 UT 20, ¶12, 979 P.2d 317. In addition in Slisze, the Court refused to recognize a duty on the manufacturer to make a safe product safer. The Court states:

Alternatively, Slisze wants this court to impose a duty on the manufacturer to inform consumers about the safer model. Considering the *AMS Salt* factors, we are again unconvinced. To require information to be provided to consumers on the availability of the safer model would, in this case (where the distinctions in the trip features are obvious), reduce the likelihood of injury so minimally that to impose the duty would be unduly burdensome. Such a burden might well act as a disincentive for manufacturers in the development of safer products when such development could force the discontinuation of the less safe model. Consequently, Slisze's negligence claim fails for lack of duty, and it was proper for the lower court to dismiss it. There is no duty to make a safe product safer.

Id. at ¶13 (internal quotations omitted). Niemela argues on appeal that the 1992 Model Mailbox became “defective” and “unreasonably dangerous” once the 2001 Standard became effective and Imperial then had a duty not to sell a “defective” or “unreasonably dangerous mailbox.” That argument is based upon the erroneous assumption that the 1992 Model Mailbox was defective because it did not comply with the 2001 Standards. However, as the Utah Supreme Court explained in Slisze, “[w]e have never, nor has any other jurisdiction, recognized a duty on the part of a manufacturer to refrain from marketing a non-defective product when a safer model is available, or a duty to inform the consumer of the availability of the safer model.” Slisze, 1999 UT 20, ¶10, 979 P.2d 317. Without a duty, there can be no claim of negligence. See Young v. Salt Lake City Sch. Dist., 2002 UT 64, ¶ 12, 52 P.3d 1230. Therefore, the Trial Court properly concluded that Imperial had no duty to Niemela in regards to its non-defective 1992

Model Mailbox and that Imperial was entitled to judgment as a matter of law as to Niemela's negligence claim.

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED NIEMELA'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM FAILED AS A MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE NIEMELA DID NOT PRODUCE ANY ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE THAT HER INJURIES WERE PROXIMATELY AND ACTUALLY CAUSED BY THE MAILBOXES.

The Trial court correctly concluded Niemela's negligence claim failed as a matter of law because Niemela did not produce any admissible evidence that her injuries were proximately and actually caused by the 1992 Model Mailboxes. In Utah, "[t]he need for positive expert testimony to establish a causal link between the defendants' negligent act and the Plaintiff's injury depends on the nature of the injury." Beard v. K-Mart Corp., 2000 UT App 285, ¶16, 12 P.3d 1015. However, it is only in "the most obvious cases" that a plaintiff may be excepted from the requirement of using expert testimony to prove causation. Id. In this case, Niemela claims that she suffered "serious and permanent physical injuries from opening and closing the pre-2004 Imperial mailbox, including injury to her right fingers, hand and wrist, resulting in a permanent impairment of her right extremity of 25-27%" from using the 1992 Model Mailboxes. R. 9. However, such claims are beyond the ordinary senses and common experience of a layperson. The Trial Court was correct in concluding that Niemela needed expert testimony to establish her *prima facie* case of causation and to prevent the fact-finder from resorting to speculation.

See Fox v. Brigham Young Univ., Inc., 2007 UT App 406, ¶23, 176 P.3d 446. Therefore, the Trial Court was correct in concluding that Imperial was entitled to summary judgment on Niemela's negligence claim as a matter of law because she could not make a *prima facie* case of causation.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN CONCLUDING THAT THE 1992 MODEL MAILBOXES WERE FREE FROM DEFECT OR DEFECTIVE CONDITION AND NIEMELA FAILED TO CREATE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT TO REBUT THAT PRESUMPTION.

The Trial Court properly concluded that Imperial was entitled to an order granting summary judgment in its favor because Niemela failed to create a genuine issue of material fact to rebut the presumption that the 1992 Model Mailboxes were free from any defect or defective condition because they were designed in conformity with the 1992 requirements of USPS-STD-7. The Trial Court found that the 1992 Model Mailboxes were in place on or about 1995. The Trial Court found that the design of the 1992 Model Mailboxes at issue were in compliance with the 1992 requirements of the United States Postal Service and Imperial was entitled to a rebuttable presumption of non-defectiveness². The only evidence that Niemela put forth to attempt to rebut the

² The Utah Supreme Court recently ruled that its decision in Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985), determining that the statute of repose in the Act was unconstitutional, necessarily required that other sections of the Act were also unconstitutional because the Act was nonseverable. See Egbert v. Nissan Motor Co.,

presumption that the 1992 Model Mailbox was non-defective was her inadmissible subjective belief that the mailboxes re-designed under the 2001 standards were better than those designed under the 1992 standards and that she was injured while opening a mailbox. However, the applicable common law rule is that the product is to be viewed in the light of “standards established for that industry which were in existence at the time the plans or designs for the product or the methods and techniques of manufacturing, inspecting and testing the product were adopted.” Accordingly, whether or not the 2001 design is better or whether a product designed under the 1992 standards conforms to the 2001 standards is irrelevant. Accordingly, the Trial Court was correct in determining that the 1992 Model Mailbox was free from a defect or defective condition.

Furthermore, a mailbox is not “unreasonably dangerous” or defective simply because it is capable of causing injury. Niemela has provided no admissible evidence of manufacturing flaws, no objective admissible evidence of defects with the 1992 design when viewed under standards at the time and no admissible evidence of inadequate warnings regarding use. Niemela has offered no admissible evidence that the mailboxes at issue were not designed in accordance with the 1992 design standards. Niemela did allege that she was injured while opening a mailbox. A product is not defective simply

Ltd., 2010 UT 8, ¶10, 228 P.3d 737. However, the Court held that due to two decades of judicial articulation, the Utah Courts have adopted implicitly into the common law the same rule that was enunciated by section 78-15-6. Id. at ¶17.

because it is possible to be injured while using it. *See e.g. Moomey v Massey Ferguson, Inc.*, 429 F2d 1184 (CA10 NM 1970) (applying New Mexico law) (piece of metal not unreasonably dangerous even though caused injury after being struck by hammer). Any product is capable of causing injury. Accordingly, the Trial Court was correct in determining that the mailbox at issue is not unreasonably dangerous or defective as a matter of law.

V. THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHIN ITS BROAD DISCRETION TO REJECT THE FEBRUARY 19, 2010 AFFIDAVIT OF NIEMELA AS INADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE.

The Trial Court was within its broad discretion to reject the February 19, 2010 Affidavit of Niemela as admissible evidence. Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure sets out the substantive requirements for affidavits and states:

Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein.

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e). An affidavit that is based upon unsubstantiated belief, contains conclusory statements, is not based upon personal knowledge or containing improper opinion testimony must be excluded. *See, e.g., Treloggan v. Treloggan*, 699 P.2d 747, 748 (Utah 1985) (affidavit based on unsubstantiated belief insufficient); *Norton v. Blackham*, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983) (conclusory affidavits are invalid); *GNS Partnership v. Fullmer*, 873 P.2d 1157, 1164-65 (Utah Ct.App.1994) (affidavits not

based on personal knowledge were properly stricken). In the February 19, 2010 affidavit, Niemela opines about the “adequate accessibility” of mailbox knobs, the proper depth of a knob to allow quick grasping, adequate “finger clearance and surface area for carriers to grasp,” and what knob depth caused “possible injury” versus depth that was “adequate to prevent hand and arm strain and injury.” However, the affidavit does not set forth any admissible evidence that Niemela has the foundation or expertise necessary to opine on the design elements of 1992 Model Mailbox and knobs, the standards within the industry, or the medical expertise to opine regarding causation.

Furthermore, Niemela attempts in the affidavit to opine about the 1992 Model Mailbox knobs alleged failure to “operate freely” within the industry standard and snow and ice accumulation inside the mailbox. There is no evidence that Niemela has the foundation or expertise to opine of the design elements of “operate freely” or whether the natural accumulation of ice and snow violates the design standards established by the United States Postal Service.

Niemela attempts to aver that the 1992 Model Mailbox knobs did not “allow easy opening and closing requiring no more than 5 pounds of force” and did not “fit and operate properly with no unintended catch or binding points”. There is no evidence that Niemela has the foundation or expertise to opine of the design elements of “easy opening”, “more than 5 pounds of force” or “fit and operate properly with no unintended

catch or binding points” with the industry. Niemela has produced no testing regarding the amount of force required to open the mailboxes at issue.

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